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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF CONNECTICUT

LINDA JENNETTE, ) No. 3:13ev-01500(MPS)
Plaintiff, :

V.
HOUSING AUTHORITY OF THE CITY OF

BRIDGEPORT, :
Defendant : May 18, 2015

RULING ON MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT

Introduction

Plaintiff Linda Jennette (“Jennetted)leges that defendant Housing Authority of the
City of Bridgeport ("HACB”)discriminated againster on the basis of her disabilitydennette
suffers from multiple sclerosis (“M$*—when it terminagd her employment in July 2013, in
violation ofthe Rehabilitation Act,2U.S.C. 88 791, 794. HACB disputes thatdecision to
discharge Jennetteas motivated by hetisability. HACB has movedor summary judgment
arguingthatJennette has failed fwoduce sufficient evidence to create a genuine dispute of
material fact as to HACB'’s motivatioifthe Court disagrees and therefore desigamary
judgment onJennette’s claim for discriminatory termination. To the extent thaifgbeative
complaintalso alleges thadACB violated the Rehabilitation Act by failing to provide Jennette
with a reasonablaccommodation, summary judgment is granted on anydaich, which has

been abandoned and, in any event, would fail as a matter of law.
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. Facts

The following facts are undisputed exceginoted at the end of this section:

Jennettéhas suffered frolMIS since 1992In May 2005, Jennette was hired as the
executive assistant to the executive directddACB, whichis amunicipal housing authority
created under state law to provide affordable housing. Between June 2007 and May 2013,
HACB'’s executive director was Nicholas Caldt€alace”). Between roughly May 15, 2013,
and March 3, 2014, HACB was headed by interxacaitive director Jimmy Miller (*Miller),
who had previously served as executive director and deputy executive director aif speci
projects at the Housing Authority of the City of New Haven (“HANH").

For years, funding to local housing authorities, including HA@&sin decline, which
was exacerbated by the “sequestration” of federal fum@813. In March 2013, the U.S.
Department of Housing and Urban Development notified HACB that federal funding to
housing authorities would be cut by thirteen percent. In the 2013 fiscal year (rurmmmg f
October 1 to September 30), HACB had an operateigit of roughly twomillion dollars. As
a result, Calace began laying off employae® temporary receptionists and four temporary
mantenance workers in March 2013 and two custodians and two certifiedanagup
specialists in April 2013. When Miller took over, he continued the laylaiying off the
deputy director of administration in May 2013, a central maintenance coordindtarsanior
maintenance administrator in June 2013, and a work order clerk on July 3, 2013.

Amid its budget gsis, HACB began a special project to change its operations from a
“centralized operating system” to a “projete based operating system.” Hard copieéiles
at the central office needed to be scanned to be transferred to loc&sitesy 11, 2013,

human resources director Robyn Stewart (“Stewartigiled the secretaries and assistants in



the central officéo assigrthemto daysduring the week of July 15, 2013, when thegrevto
assist with the scanningennette was aggied to scan files on July 19, 2013. Although the
office contained desktop scanners that could be used by a person #itisg machines were
not working. The alternative was a large copy machine that a pemdd stand to use.

Jennetteriginally thought that the file transfer project entailed physically moving files
to new locationsMinutes after receiving Stewart’s email, Jennette wrote back to say that she
needed her assignmentideon a different day because her immediate supamvidgfice
manager Eva Miranda (“Mirandpivas planning to be on vacation from July 18 to July 26, and
Jennette was expected to remain at her desk when Miranda was absent. Steadrt\épli
will work something out, thanksStewart and Jennetaésohada similar exchange in person.
Stewart then assigned another employehuty 19to cover Jennette date but did not give
Jennette a new assignment

Within a few days, Jennette became aware that the file transfer projeatwaiiyed
scanning/copying fileOn July 15, 2013]Jennette told Stewart that she was worriedtbat
MS would prevent her from standing at tepy machine all dayl'his was the first time that
Jennette &d mentioned her MS to Stewart, although Stewartahi@aint memory of overhearing
Jennettanention hemedicalcondition to other employees years earlgewart told her to get
a doctor’s note, and Jennette said she would. Later that day, Jéaxatt@note to her
neurologist asking for ketter stating that she coutat stand all dagt the copy machine
Within a day or two, her doctor provided the letter.

The next day, July 16, 2013, MillealledStewartand instructed her to lay Jennetfe o
Later that day, Stewart handed Jennettedadice of job eliminatiori,a letter with form

language that had been used for prior layoffs, stating thanmgloymentwas ending “[d]ue to



Federal funding cuts including sequestration.” Exto StewariAff. In ameeting with

Jennette, Stewart explained that her job was eliminated because of the seguestdabudget
deficit. Aside from the form letter, there is no contemporaneous documentation of the reasons
for Miller’s decision to lay off Jennette.

No employee wahired to replace Jennette, and her dugresnowperformedoy
Miranda.Since Jennette was laid off, several more employees have also been Rjoff:
developer in August 2013, and an elderly/disabled services coordinator, a “Hope VI”
coordinator, three administrative assistants, a paralegal, a payroll accoantathte
comptroller, all in September 2013.

The onlyfactualdisputes relate tdMiller’'s motivation for laying off Jennettdhe
parties agree that during her several years with HACB, Jennette was atttmall her
essential duties without accommodation, had a good attendance eswtivddno record of
disciginary or performance issues. Jennelteges that she was chosen to be laid off because
of her disability. Second Am. Compl. (ECF No. 11) (“Compl.”) 11 56N8ifler says that
Jennette’s MS played no role in his decision andhbatas not even aware of her medical
condition.Miller Aff. § 23.He says Jennette was laid off because HACB's éuldgd shrunk,
he could nojustify having two employeeserving as his assistantsn his previous job as
executive diredr of HANH, he had onlpne employe¢o perform the tasks of an assistant
and Mirandavasthemore skilled and efficienaf the two.ld. {1 1722. Jennette disputes those
claims, offering her own description of ttesksthat she and Miranda performed atepicting
Miranda as deficient in many secretarial and office managerkiéiat 3ennette Aff. 18-16.

She also claims that Miller knew about kemmunications to Stewartgardinghercondition

and need for accommodation in relation to the file transfer prajgicly the fact that



immediately after shemade those communications to Stewd@tewart met with Miller in his
office, with the door closed. Jennette Dep. at 106; Jennette Aff.StdBartand Miller
disputethis. Stewart Aff. 11 489; Miller Aff. {1 20, 23.

[11. Legal Standard on Summary Judgment

“Summary judgment is appropriate only if ‘the movant shows that there is no genuine
issue as to any material fact and the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter aidean.”

v. Cotton, 134 S. Ct. 1861, 1866 (2014) (quoting Fed. R. Civ. Pro. b6(a)making that
determinationa court must view the evidengethe light most favorable to the opposing

party.” Id. (quotation marks omitted). The moving party bears the burden of demonstrating that
Nno genuine issue exists as to any material @#btex Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317, 323-25
(1986). If the moving party carries its burden, “the opposing party must come forvtlard w
specific evidence demonstrating the existence of a genuine dispute of matefi&rtawa v.

Eli Lilly & Co., 654 F.3d 347, 358 (2d Cir. 2011).

An issue of fact is “material” if it “might affect the outcome of the suit under the
governing law."Konikoff v. Prudential Ins. Co. of America, 234 F.3d 92, 97 (2d Cir. 2000). “A
dispute regarding a material fact is genufrtbe evidence is such that a reasonable jury could
return a verdict for the nonmoving partyMIlliamsv. Utica Coll. of Syracuse Univ., 453 F.3d
112, 116 (2d Cir. 2006) (internal quotation marks and citation omiti#&shessments of
credibility and choices between conflicting versions of the events are mattdrs joryt, not for
the court on summary judgmenRulev. Brine, Inc., 85 F.3d 1002, 1011 (2d Cir. 1996) (citations

omitted).



V.  Discussion

A. Discriminatory Termination (Disparate Treatment) Claim

Jennette claims thaft] he defendant terminat¢ker] employment becaugshe]was
afflicted with multiple sclerosis in violation of the Rehabilitation Act, 29 U.S.C. § 794.
Compl. 11 56-57Because there is a genuine dispute of material fact as to whether HACB
discriminated against Jennette by dischargiegbecause dfer medical condition, the Court
deniessummary judgment on this claim.

“The basic framework of a claim of employment discrimination under Section 504 of
the Rehabilitation Act” is that a plaintiff “must establish that (1) she is an individuabwith
disability within the meaning of the Act, (2) she is otherwise qualifieettopm the job in
guestion, (3) she was excluded from the job solely because of her disability, and (4) her
employer received federal fundind3drkowski v. Valley Cent. Sch. Dist., 63 F.3d 131, 135 (2d
Cir. 1995). “Under the ADA, a plaintiff must pres@&avidencethat animus was a significant
factorin the adverse action, whereas to establighraa facie case of discrimination under the
Rehabilitation Act. . .the plaintiffmust show that the defendauted solelypecause of the
disability.” Valenzisi v. Samford Bd. of Educ., 948 F. Supp. 2d 227, 242 (D. Conn. 2013)
(quotation narks and modifications omittedgee also Hodges v. Holder, 547 F. App’x 6, 8 (2d
Cir. 2013)(“In order to establish prima facie case under the Rehabilitation Act, a plaintiff
must show that the discrimination occurred ‘solélgtause of his or her disability.”).

“The plaintiff in a Rehabilitation Act suit bears the initial burden of establishingreap
facie case under the Actdeilweil v. Mount Snai Hosp., 32 F.3d 718, 722 (2d Cir. 1994).
“The burden then shifts to the employdd’ “If the employer asserts a neutral reason,

unrelated to plaintiff’'s handicap, for its employment decision, then its burden iectdade a



legitimate nordiscriminatory reason for discharging the employée.{quotation marks
omitted). “The burden then shifts back to the plaintiff to show that the employd¢ed stason
is really a pretext for discriminationld. Further,on summary judgmentthere will be
instances where, although the plaintiff has established a prima facie case fantth sufficient
evidence to reject the defendant’s explanation, no rational factfinder could cornctitie t
action was discriminatoryif, for example “the record conclusively revealed some other,
nondiscrimnatory reason for the employsriecision, or ithe plaintiff created only a weak
issue of fact as to whether the employer’s reason was untrue and thedewwdant and
uncontroverted independent evidence that no discrimination had occurReees v.

Sanderson Plumbing Products, Inc., 530 U.S. 133, 148 (2000)Réeves clearly mandates a
caseby-case approach, with a court examining the entire record to determine whether the
plaintiff could sati$y his ultimate burden of persuading the trier of fact that the defendant
intentionally discriminated against the plaintif&¢hnabel v. Abramson, 232 F.3d 83, 90 (2d
Cir. 2000) (quotation marks omitted).

Motivation (“solely because of her disability”) is the only elementesfnette’case
thatHACB has challengedef.’s Br. at 9As HACB has articulated a nafiscriminatory
reason for discharging Jennettaamely,its budge crisis in combination with Miranda’s
superior skills and efficiencyJennette mst producesufficient evidence to create a genuine
disputeof material fact as to whether, in truth, HA@Bcharged her “solely because of her

disability.” She has done so.

! Although Reeves andSchnabel involvedclaims undethe Age Discrimination in Employment Act (“ADEA”)
rather than the Rehabilitation Atlhey elaborate the burdens generally applicable to dispaeatenent
discrimination cases (establishedMgDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green, 411 U.S. 7921973)),which extend to
Rehabilitation Act claimsSee, e.g., Doev. Bd. of Educ. of Fallsburgh Cent. Sch. Dist., 63 F. App'x 46, 48 (2d Cir.
2003)(“Claims under the ADA, the Rehabilitation Act, and the NYHRL all proagetbr the familiar burden
shifting analysis articulated ByicDonnell Douglas and its progeny).
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Jennette does not dispute that the budget crisi$&B’s motivation forlaying off
someone. Pl.’s Br. at 11Rather, sheontends that, in choosing whethetayp off Jennetter
Miranda, Miller choselennettdecause of her disabilignd her request for accommodation,
and Miller's claims to the contrary apeetextual This is acognizable claim, even under the
“solely because 6fstandardSee Borkowski, 63 F.3d at 148Rehabilitation Act case)
(“Employees with disabilities would not, for example, be insulated from a layaffrgEanying
an economic downturiprovided that the employer did not select the employees to be
discharged in a discriminatory manrig(emphasisadded).

Jennette produces pieces of evidence thkén together, create a genuine dispute of
material factas to pretexteven though none of theggiesndividually would.First isthe
evidence that Miller was made aware of JenneltSsand accommodation request on July 15,
2013, and then laid her off tinext day. It is undisputed that Jennette informed Stewart of her
MS and made the request forarcommodation on July Emd that Jennette was discharged
on July 16 Jennette’s testimony that Stewart met with Miller in private immediately after
hearing from Jennetis circumstantial evidence that woybérmit a reasonable jury to infer
that Miller was also made aware of Jennette’s MS and accommodation requesiraeti@it t
Gordon v. New York City Bd. of Educ., 232 F.3d 111, 117 (2d Cir. 2000A jury . .. can find
retaliation even if thécorporaté agent deniedirect knowledge of a plaintiff's protected
activities . . so long as the jury finds that the circumstances evidence knowledge of the
protected activities . . .).”

Such a close temporal connection betwigidter’s learning of Jennette’®IS and
accommodation request and taging her offis evidence of pretext, even though it is not

enough on its owio defeat summary judgme@ann Kwan v. Andalex Grp. LLC, 737 F.3d



834, 847 (2d Cir. 2013) (“[T]emporal proximity between her protected conduct and her
termination . . . alone is insufficient to defeat summary judgment at the pretext stage
However, a plaintiff may rely on evidence comprising her prima facie cadeding temporal
proximity, together with other evidence such as inconsistent employer exptasnad defeat
summary judgment at that stage.”) (citations omitted).

There aralsopotential inconsistencies HACB'’s descriptions of the process by which
Jennette was chosen to be laid affiich could provide further support for a jury finding of
pretext’ Stewarttestified in her deposition that June Miller's New Haven assistaht
communicated to Stewatiat“Mr. Miller wanted to knowwhatdoesLinda [Jennette] exactly
do, becaushewas going to eliminate the positionwe cant justify the amount of work that
she’s doing. Stewart Dep. at 1;6see also Stewart Aff. § 36 But thattestimonyis at odds with
the claim, made by both Stewart and Miller in their affidavits, $tatvart hadho involvement
in the decision to lay off Jennet&tewart Aff. 50 (“I did not directly or indirectly
recommend, suggest or indude. Miller to eliminate the plaintiff's job position or to lay her
off. Nor did | influence in any way or attempt to influence his decision to di sailfer Aff.
21 (“Neither Human Resources Director Stewart nor Office Manager Mirafidanced in
any way my decision to eliminate the plaintiff's position and lay her)off.is alsoin tension
with the undisputed fad¢hat Stewart emailed Jennette otyJil to assign her a project to be
completed on July 19, and then instruclednetteon July 15 to request a letter from a doctor

assupportfor her accommodatiodaim—arguablyunusual (though natexplicable) actions

2 Contrary to Jennette’s suggest, the mere fact that HACB has not produced contemporaneous internal
documentation of its layoff decisiemaking process is not meaningfully probative of pretext, in the absence of
any showing that it was unusual for such documentation to be lackaundistencies in explaining the decision
making process, however, may be probative of pretext. In addition, theflaontemporaneous documentatien
or, more precisely, documentation predating Jennette’s communicétien medcal conditior—also limits
HACB'’s ability to rebut Jennette’s claim that the timing of the layoffiidence of pretext.

% According to Stewart, Miller was working between New Haven and Bpdd.
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for Stewart to have taken if, as Stewart’s deposition suggests, the procesdiofjdelaether
to lay off Jennette was already in motion with Stewgdrt/olvement.

HACB may have explanatiortiat would resolve the potential incosteinciessuch as
Stewat’s explanatiorthat she “told [Jennette] to bring a doctor’s note in case Mr. Miller
changed his mind or she was laid off and lateraléed or rehired into a different job
position.” Stewart Aff.  36. 8t a reasonable jury could reject those explanatieagng
inconsistencies from whigbretext could be inferredror examplethe jury might infer that
Stewart’s deposition testimompout the June comunicatiorwith Miller's New Haven
assistantvasfabricatedn an effort toestablisithat the layoff decisiopredated JennetgeJuly
15 disclosure of havlS, or alternatively that the statemenis theaffidavitsabout Stewart’s
non-involvementverefabricatedin order to suppomiiller’s claim that henever learned of
Jennettes MSfrom Stewart Castleman v. Acme Boot Co., 959 F.2d 1417, 1422 (7th Cir. 1992)
(“A jury’s conclusion that an employerreasons were pretextual can be supported by
inconsistencies in or the unconvincing nature of the decisionnsatestimony.”) (ciéd with
approval inTolbert v. Queens Coll., 242 F.3d 58, 70 (2d Cir. 20Q1)

Further, the record contaiamostno countervailingvidenceof an alternative
explanation for why July 16 specifically was choseaside from mere coincidenoehich is a
possibility—to rebut thanference of pretext arising frothetemporal proximityof the
disclosure of Jennette’s conditidvliller’s affidavit offers no explanatiowhy heorderedthe
layoff that dayln her deposition, Stewart said that Miller usually communéethi® layoff
decisions on Tuesdays or Wednesdays (July 16, 2013, being a Tuesday), Stewart Dep. at 20-21,
but the record contains no explanation why July 16, as opposed to any other Tuesday or

Wednesday, was chosen.
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Finally, Jennettéas offeredsome evidence that Miller’s proffered rationale for
selecting her to be laid effnamely, that Miranda was more skilled and efficierg pretextual
because, in light of Jennette’s supeskitl and efficiency, it is unlikely that Millehonestly
believed that Mirandevas more skilled and efficient. In her affida\vdennetteletails the duties
that she and Miranda each had in the central office, as wellinsetbigective abilities to
perform those dutiesind generally depicts her own role as morgortant than Miranda’s.

The defendants argue thhts cannot create a genuine dispute becausaisubjective

opinion. But Jennette offers more than a conclusory opinion. She provides specificodletails
which she had personal knowledge: for exantplat, Jennette wagsponsible for managing
most correspondence to the central office, handling complaints from public housilentgsi
transcribing minutes of board meetings, and editing monthly reports, and thatiicould

not perform basic functions in Microsoft Word or Excel (and even telephoned Jepnette f
technical assistance after Jennette had been laid off) and haenpeetednly with short
writing projects while Jennette was entrustethwinore substantial documents. Jennette Aff.
9-16.

A reasonable jury may agree with Jennette’s characterization skilexnd efficiency
as being superior to Miranda’s. Alone, this evidence igfilegent to create a genuine dispute
of material fact as to whether Miller’s stated rationale for choosing to lagofiedte is
pretextual but it nonetheless akes progress towards creatangenuine dispute about pretext.
Byrniev. Town of Cromwell, Bd. of Educ., 243 F.3d 93, 103 (2d Cir. 2001) (“An employer’s
disregard or misjudgment of a plaintiffglj qualifications may undermine the credibility of an
employer’s stated justification for an employment decisionWhen a plaintiff seeks to

prevent summary judgment on the strength of a discrepancy in qualificationsddryoan
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employer. . . the plaintiff's credentials would have to be so superior to the credentials of the
person selected for the job that no reasonable person, in the exercise of impariahjudg
could have chosen the candidate selected over the plaintiff for the job in question. . . .
Nevertheles, just because the discrepancy . . . doesmis own have the strength to create a
material issue of fact, that does not mean the discrepancy is stripped of aivproakte?)
(quotation marks omitted; emphasis added).

There is sufficient evidence farjury to find thaHACB's statel rationale for the
decision tday off Jennette is pretextuah@this is not the sort of case envisionedgvesin
which, despite minimally sufficient evidence of pretext, therelsifidant and uncontroverted
independent evidence that no discrimination had occurred.” 530 U.S. at 148. HACB does not
dispute that Jennette had no record of job performance issues, and it offers |etkaanor
Miller's conclusory opinion thdWliranda wasnore skilled and efficient, whichwhile
sufficient to shift the burden of production back to Jennette—does not eliminate the genuine
disputeas to whetheHACB discriminated against Jennette the basis of her disability.
Summary judgment is therefore DEND as to Jennette@iscriminatory termination claim.

B. Failure-to-Accommodate Claim

HACB hasseparately moved for summary judgmentlennette’s “failure to
accommodate claimDef.’s Br. at 1214.To the extent that Jennette has alleged a faibure
accommodate clainseparate from heatiscriminatory termination clainthe claim has been
abandoned and, in any event, would &é&ila matter of law.

Under the Rehabilitation Acgplaintiff may sue an employee for failing to make
reasonable accommadans,apartfrom a claim of discriminatory terminatio@ompare 42

U.S.C. § 1211)(5)(B) (“[T]he term discriminate against a qualified individual on theesis
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of disability’ includes . . . denying employment opportunities to a job applicantogee
who is an otherwise qualified individual with a disability, if such denial is based ondgteohe
such covered entity to make reasonable accommodation to the physical or meaitahénts
of the employee or applicant . . . Wjthid. 8§ 12112Zb)(5)(A) (“[T]he term . . . includes . . . not
making reasonable accommodations to the known physical or mental limitations of an
otherwise qualified individual with a disability who is an applicant or emplayeess such
covered entity can demonstrate that tbeoaxmodation would impose an undue hardship on
the operation of the business of such covered entity . *.Aljd the operative complaint in
this casecontains allegationsuggesting that Jennettatially madesuch a claimSee Compl. |
58 (‘The defendant violated the provisions of the Rehabilitation Act by refusing to ergex int
discourse regarding the reasonable accommodations needed by the plaintiffy [aoid] b
providing the plaintiff with reasonable accommodations .); id” 1 19, 21(alleging that
Jennette ihformed Stewart that she suffered from multiple sclerosis, and that she wodld nee
for [sic] an accommodation with respect to the standing at a copy machine for one full day per
week,” but “Stewart did not enter into a discourse of any kind . . . to identify an appropriat
accommodation”).

But in opposing the motion for summary judgmeefriette has abandoned that claim

She does not respond to HACB’s motion with regard to a sepéaatefor failure to

* These portions of the Americans with Disabilities Act apply to Jenn@etsbilitation Act claim29 U.S.C. §
794(d) (“The standards used to determine whether this section hasdla&tiin a complaint alleging
employment discrimination under this section shall be the standards aypdiedtitle | of the Americans with
Disabilities Act of 1990 (42 U.E. 12111et seq.) and the provisions of sections 501 through 504, and 510, of the
Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (42 U.S.C. 12201 to 12204 and 12210)lasextions relate to
employment.”).“[A] plaintiff can edablish aprima facie case [for failure to accommodate] under [the
Rehabilitation Act] by showing (1) that he is an individual who has difltyawithin the meaning of the statute,

(2) that an employer covered by the statute had notice of his disaBjithat with reasonable accommodation, he
could perform the essential functions of the position sought, and (4) tlenfieyer has refused to make such
accommodations.&onev. City of Mount Vernon, 118 F.3d 92, 987 (2d Cir. 1997).
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accommodateand instead discusses accommodation oniglationto herdiscriminatory
terminationclaim.

Further,the record in this case forecloses a separate fadtsmecommodate claim.
Federal regulations provide, in pertinent part, that “[tjhe term reasonableraccation
means . . . [m]odifications or adjustments . . . that enable an individual with a disabdiig
qualified to perform the essential functions of that position . . . [or] to enjoy equaitbemef
privileges of employment as are enjoyadits other similarly situated employees without
disabilities.” 29 C.F.R. 8§ 1630.2(0)(1)(ii),(iiiT.he potential accommodation at issue relates to
Jennette’s participation in the special file transfer project without havingro atdhe copy
machine dlday. Jennette does not allege, much less provide evidence, that the requested
accommodation would have enabled her to perform essential funtfimrsdoes the record
contain any suggestion that being excluded from the special file transfeat plepeived her of
the equal benefits and privileges of employment.

Becausehe file transfer project wamdisputedly noaessentialHACB was legally
prohibited from takingadverse action against Jennette becauberahability to participate in
the project or in retaliation for her request for an accommodation—which the Coatteaaty
addressedsupra Section IV.A—but was not legally obligated to prd@ian accommodatian
relation to the projectee, e.g., Soffan v. S New England Tel. Co., 4 F.Supp.3d 364, 376-77
(D. Conn. 2014§*With respect to the plaintifé request that he not be transferred to Stamford

because it involved a longer commute, the plaintiff has not shown that he was unable to

®> Compl. 1 16 (Despite her impairment, the plaintiff had been able to successfultypethe essential functions
of her position without an accommodationit); § 24 (“Standing at a copy machine and making copies the full
day wasot an essential function of the pléffis job as Executive Secretary.”) (emphasis added); Pl.’s D. Conn.
L. R. 56(a)(2) Statement 1 4 (admitting defendant’s claim that theifil&ivas able to perform all of the essential
duties of her position as secretary to the Executive Director of HA@®utian accommodation”); Jennette Dep.
at 96 (“Q: Did you ever request any accommodations so that you could parigressential functions of your
former position at the authority? A: No.”).
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perform the essential functions of his job in Stamford . . . . Thus, there is no genuinealspute
to whether the plaintiff was able to perform the essential functions of his positlmunan
accommodatin, and therefore the defendant was underutyp  agree to the plaintif’

request that he not be transferred to Stamfigr@&stro v. City of New York, 24 F.Supp.3d 250,
267-68 (E.D.N.Y. 2014) (“[P]laintiff points to no evidence that would demondtratehis
request was made in an effort to enable him to better perform the essentiah&iathis

job.”); Konieczny v. New York State Div. of Parole, 647 F. Supp. 2d 256, 264 (W.D.N.Y. 2009)
(“[T]he record demonstrates that the ‘accommodations’ slseallegedly denied-a flexible
schedule and/or overtimewere not reasonable, because they were not necessary for her to
perform the essential functions of her positipn.”

Thus, even if Jennette had not abandoned a separate fatkreommodate claim,
summary judgment would be appropriate. The Court GRANTS summary judgment as to any
claim that HACB failed in its duty to provide reasonable accommodations.

V. Conclusion

For the foregoing reasortbe Motion for Summary Judgment (ECF No. 20) is
GRANTED IN PART AND DENIED IN PART. The case proceeds only as to thetpfan
claim thatthe defendant discriminated against her on the basis of her disability when it
terminated her employment.

The paties' joint trial memorandum is d@&ptember 12015, and jury selection is
scheduled for Nvember 42015 If the parties wish to engage in a mediation with a magistrate
judge, they should jointly file a statement on or befdesy 26 2015, certifying thia(1)
counsel have conferred with their clients and each other, (2) the parties wishetedpiemc

mediation, (3) the parties are willing to participate in settlement efforts in goodaadr{4)
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counsel believe that a mediation stands at least a reasonable chance of résobasg t

without trial.

SO ORDERED this 18th day of May 2015, at Hartford, Connecticut.

/sl
Michael P. Shea
United States District Judge
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